 Market Research Report

for

the Transformation of a Military

Depot Maintenance Base (DMB)
Reference Solicitation No: 

Prepared by

Date

Table of Contents

31. Acquisition Background


32. Team Members


33. Description of Need


44. Market Research Tools Employed


44.1 Benchmarking


44.2 Feasibility Study


44.3 Sources Sought Synopsis


44.4 Industry Days


44.4.1 First Industry Day


54.4.2 Pre-Solicitation Conference


54.5 Questionnaire


55. Summary of the Market


66. Feasibility Study


77. Results of the Market Research


88. Conclusions


99. References


11Appendix A: Questions/Answers from Industry Day


14Appendix B: Questionnaire




Market Research

1. Acquisition Background

Existing DMB depot maintenance production methodologies need to be flexible to meet current and forecasted demand requirements. The DMB supporting facility infrastructure, equipment, processes and personnel are operating with less than optimal flow processes, facility constraints, and outdated equipment. The current methods of production are batch and queue in nature, task-oriented, and functionally isolated.  DMB repair and overhaul systems are designed and arranged as separate system elements, which results in excessive parts travel time and distance.  Most of the industrial processing equipment is aging and at the point of needing refurbishment or replacement.  Current industrial equipment is 1960’s and 1970’s vintage.  The equipment is prone to excessive downtime due to long lead supply items, out-of-business vendors, and obsolete parts. To meet current and forecast production requirements, it is necessary to improve process flow, reduce flow time, increase availability of critical skills, and upgrade, modify or purchase new equipment to eliminate existing production constraints.

The Directorate of Maintenance initiated a process improvement project, which is designed to dramatically improve the entire operation of the product lines. As one step in the project, a Feasibility Study was conducted that presents an overview of current operations and develops a lean and/or cellular concept for the redesign and modification of both the facility infrastructure and the repair and overhaul system. A top-down approach was used to examine the entire operation as a whole system. Based on that Feasibility Study, DMB adopted a vision for the entire maintenance industrial complex, which encompasses new system performance capabilities found in modern lean and/or cellular maintenance facilities.

2. Team Members

___________
Lead Program Manager

___________
Program Manager

___________
Contracting Officer

___________
Deputy of MA-T

___________
Contracting

3. Description of Need

The objective of the DMB Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul Transformation Program is to design, develop, construct, install, implement and deliver a dramatically improved maintenance repair and overhaul process and facilities for the DMB industrial complex using Lean and/or cellular industry best practices. Services include:

1. Overall Plan

· Design/Schedule

· Business Unit Design

· Design

2. Implementation

· Equipment relocation

· Equipment refurbishment

· Equipment purchases

· Demolition of required infrastructure, offices, and equipment as necessary

· Construction of structures needed to support the new lean and/or cellular environment

· Installation of infrastructure required to support new shop layouts

4. Market Research Tools Employed

4.1 Benchmarking
The DMB should take an aggressive stance to implement benchmarking as a standard process improvement tool for depot maintenance.  Process Improvement is also a Depot Maintenance Reengineering and Transformation (DMRT) initiative.  Thus, benchmarking, as one piece of process improvement, is covered by the DMRT initiative.  

The DMRT initiative directed that a survey be conducted for best practices to ensure that the DMB Transformation Program is building a process improvement Concept of Operations (CONOPS) consistent with the way industry does process improvement/benchmarking.  The following list is a result of that survey.

Benchmarking Sites:

4.2 Feasibility Study

(See Section 6 below)

4.3 Sources Sought Synopsis

4.4 Industry Days

Industry Days were held at the DMB on _______________. The first Industry Day provided industry information about the proposed transformation and solicited feedback about the direction of the effort prior to developing the detailed acquisition strategy.  The second day was a Pre-Solicitation Conference that explained the details of the approved strategy and solicited contractor inputs prior to issuing the final RFP.
4.4.1 First Industry Day

The first Industry Day resulted in ___ attendees representing ___ firms and institutions:

A number of questions and comments were received prior to and during the Industry Day, and answers were provided by the Government staff (see Appendix A). Industry Day also included one-on-one meetings between the DMB team members and the firm/institution.

4.4.2 Pre-Solicitation Conference

The second Industry Pre-Solicitation Conference was held on __________ for providing industry additional information about the proposed transformation effort, acquisition and contract approach, and to solicit feedback.  Personnel representing _ firms and institutions attended the Pre-Solicitation Conference.  As part of Pre-Solicitation Conference, ____ teams/firms engaged in one-on-one sessions, resulting in ___ questions and answers. 

4.5 Questionnaire

Subsequent to Industry Day, a questionnaire (given in Appendix B) was posted on ________________ by DMB asking for specific information from the Industry Day attendees regarding proposed contractual issues.  Responses were received from ___firms and institutions:

Subsequent to the Pre-Solicitation Conference, a questionnaire was issued by DMB requesting specific information from the Pre-Solicitation Conference attendees regarding proposed contractual issues.  Responses were received from _____ firms and institutions. The feedback received from the questionnaire indicated that:

· There is a desire to have small business goals.

· There is a desire to have targets for SDB participation, expressed as dollars and percentages of the subcontracting effort.

· Industry desires as much flexibility as possible in regards to the type of contract vehicle used.

· Some clarification of contract and RFP language is necessary prior to release of the final RFP.

The following sources responded:

5. Summary of the Market

A number of major research centers have identified, researched, and promoted exceptional practices, methods, and procedures in the design, test, production, facilities, logistics, maintainability, and management of products.  Some of these centers, such as the U.S. Navy’s Best Manufacturing Practices Center of Excellence (BMPCOE)
, are aimed at increasing the quality, reliability and maintainability of goods and services produced by American firms.  In addition, a number of U.S. corporations, which provide maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) services to the commercial and military community, have developed best practices.  These commercial MRO providers have dramatically improved operational efficiencies and have obtained significant cost reductions through the use of Lean and/or cellular manufacturing principles and practices. One example is the improvements documented by the lean initiatives at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (see Table 1).

	Table 1

(Source: Lean Sustainment Initiative and Lean Aerospace Initiative, Massachusetts Institute of Technology)



	Activity
	Performance Improvement

	Assembly touch hours 
	49%

	Nonconformance costs 
	70%

	Assembly support labor 
	80%

	Inventory reduced
	90%

	Assembly cycle time
	47%

	Engineering changes reduced
	60%

	Fabrication costs reduced
	50%

	Part lead-time down
	69%


Lean and/or cellular manufacturing requires that a holistic approach be applied to the entire enterprise that involves the culture, management, structure, and processes of the enterprise. Companies that have attempted to convert their operations to Lean and/or cellular, without simultaneously adopting and communicating these principles and practices throughout the entire organization, have not realized the full potential. In fact, many such companies have viewed their transformation as a failure. Companies that have enjoyed the greatest success in transitioning to Lean and/or cellular are those that take the holistic approach and view the transformation as a fundamental restructuring of the enterprise, including its organizational structure, business and information systems, workforce policies, incentive systems, and relationships with customers and suppliers.

DMB conducted benchmarking studies that included site visits to validate industry best practices and to research and assess transformation risks. DMB is encouraged to continue these benchmarking site visits, where the performance results are similar to those indicated in Table 1.

6. Feasibility Study

A study was conducted to determine the feasibility of transitioning the DMB into a state-of-the-art MRO facility using Lean and/or cellular manufacturing concepts and methodologies. The Feasibility Study also documented the current production system and the cost/benefit analysis to support the transformation activities. The Feasibility Study provides the DMB with a high-level system design concept and implementation recommendations that minimized disruption to production throughput through the use of swing space allocations. The Feasibility Study analyzes and evaluates the cost requirements and benefit analysis for each product line. Assumptions and impacts are also provided in the Feasibility Study for the DMB to consider and resolve as part of implementation planning. 

DMB conducted a detailed review and analysis of the Feasibility Study. DMB concluded that the Feasibility Study provided sufficient baseline production and cost information to justify a transformation initiative. The high-level system design in the Plan should be used to define transformation requirements for each product line. However, the lower-level implementation recommendations using swing space do create significant disruption and can greatly increase transformation risks.

7. Results of the Market Research

A Request for Information was published by DMB asking for information from industry about the upcoming maintenance transformation effort. Two Industry Days were held at the DMB. The first Industry Day provided industry information about the proposed transformation and to solicited feedback about the direction of the effort prior to developing the detailed acquisition strategy.  The second Pre-Solicitation Conference explained the details of the approved strategy and solicited contractor inputs prior to issuing the final RFP. _____ firms and institutions attended the first Industry Day, and _____ firms and institutions attended the second. Their expertise covered the following areas:

· Logistics Contractors

· IT Professionals

· Manufacturers

· Maintenance Contractors

· Academia

A number of questions and comments were received prior to and during the Industry Days, and answers were provided by the Government staff. A follow-up questionnaire (Appendix B) was issued by DMB asking for specific information regarding proposed contractual issues, including:

· Commerciality of effort

· Metrics

· Incentives

· Streamlined acquisition

· Teaming Restrictions

· Cost control

· Risk

Responses were received from ____ firms and institutions:

Their specific responses are available from the DMB staff. These responses on their experience and qualifications to undertake this effort attest to the competitive environment facing this acquisition. A sampling of the firms and their diverse and strong qualifications is presented in Table 2 below – not intended to suggest that these are the most highly qualified firms.

The Pre-Solicitation Conference and the question-and-answer responses demonstrate that there is an understanding of the DMB Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul (MRO) Transformation Program and the acquisition/contract strategy. 

A response of this magnitude and the strong indication of partnering from key firms confirm that there will be a competitive environment and fair transformation pricing.

In addition:


1. The magnitude of this effort is substantial and would likely require the participation of many small businesses or, alternatively, the subcontract of much of the effort to large businesses. Hence, the risk of effective subcontract management and overall performance would be adversely affected by excluding the large business primes who have demonstrated capabilities in projects of similar complexity and magnitude.

2. The RFI provided the opportunity for all potential bidders to respond to requests and provide information on their relevant capabilities. An insufficient number of small businesses responded with relevant capabilities and experience to warrant the exclusion of qualified large business primes with demonstrated capabilities.

3. The potential exists, if a small business set-aside is used, to create a "Catch-22" situation whereby the initial award would cause the small business, if the code definition of small was dollar dependent, to move outside the SB definition and possibly make them ineligible for subsequent awards, should another small business file a similar concern for follow on efforts. 

4. In certain categories (SDB, et al), small firms already enjoy an advantage in evaluation of certain factors, such as cost, once their proposal has been deemed technically acceptable. There is no advantage to the government in unnecessarily excluding bidders who have demonstrated their capability through performance of similar tasks unless there is a significant cost advantage that warrants the attendant increase in technical and performance risk.

8. Conclusions

Five tools were used to conduct the research of the market for firms willing and able to perform the transformation of the DMB Maintenance, Repair, and Overhaul Transformation Program. These tools were: benchmarking other sites; conducting a Feasibility Study; developing a Sources Sought Synopsis; holding Industry Days; and conducting a follow-up questionnaire on contractual issues.  At least __ benchmarking site visits were performed, a Feasibility Study was conducted, the Sources Sought Synopsis generated responses from __ companies and institutions that attended Industry Day and the Pre-Solicitation Conference, and __ firms and institutions responded to the follow-up questionnaire. 

The benchmarking visits generated __ findings and __ recommendations. It demonstrates that a transformation program for DMB can be consistent with the way commercial industry does process improvement. The Feasibility Study provided sufficient baseline production and cost information to justify a transformation initiative. The high-level system design in the Plan should be used to define transformation requirements for each product line. However, the lower-level implementation recommendations using swing space does create significant disruption and can greatly increase transformation risks. Finally, the response from the firms and institutions to the Sources Sought Synopsis and Industry Day, and the questions and answers from the follow-up questionnaire, demonstrated that there exists a market expertise for depot transformation in 5 broad categories: logistics contractors, IT Professionals, manufacturers, maintenance contractors, and academia. 

A response of this magnitude, and the strong indication of partnering from key firms, confirm that there will be a competitive environment and fair pricing for the DMB MRO Transformation Program.
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Table 2

Sample of Respondents
	Organization
	# Employees
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	Type  of Business
	Partner(s)
	Experience

Commercial
	Experience

Military
	Technical Expertise
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Appendix A: Questions/Answers from Industry Day

Information provided during Industry Day proceedings will not qualify the terms and conditions of any Request for Proposal (RFP) issued in support of this acquisition.  The definitive treatment of any questions and/or issues will be handled in the formal RFP.

The following information generated during Industry Day is not a transcription.  Information presented here is in a form intended to capture the essence of what was shared during the proceedings.
1. Can we get a copy of the “Feasibility Study?”  When do you anticipate putting the Feasibility Study out?


The plan and the government’s position paper was posted on FedBizOps.
2. How detailed is the current Feasibility Study (processes, facility modifications, etc.)?


It’s at a high level.  The scope of the new effort will be fully defined in the draft SOO that will be issued in the draft RFP.  

3. Do you have any intentions of releasing any data used in building the Feasibility Study?


Yes, we plan to post all releasable data in our bidder’s library.

4. Can we get documentation of the projects that have been undertaken to date?


Yes, we will post all documents available on the FedBizOps site.

5. What are the expectations of the contractors?


To meet the program and contract objectives.

6. Can you describe, without using company names, your vision of the skills needed on the “perfect” contract team to execute this contract?


No, as part of the proposal, we are looking for industries best mix of skills to accomplish the program objectives.

7. In determining the acquisition strategy, are you leaning towards any specific approach?


We asked for inputs from the contractors.  No specific approach has been determined.

8. Is this a performance based contract?


Yes.

9. Have you baselined all technical requirements?


No.  However, all releasable data will be posted in the bidder’s library.

10. Is the current product line performance going to be available?


Yes.  All releasable data will be posted to the FEDBIZOPS web site.

11. Will you define a return on your investment threshold?


No.
12. During the source selection process, will you want to visit past performance, projects, or sites currently on-going by the contractor?


Our approach for evaluating the capabilities of the offerors has not been fully defined.

13. How is success defined when the transformation is over?


When the performance objectives of the contract are met.

14. How are metrics going to be derived?


System level performance objectives will be provided in the SOO.

15. During the source selection process, what will be the process to review past performance?


A Performance Risk Assessment Group (PRAG) will be formed to evaluate past performance.  Each offeror will provide information on contracts for similar efforts they have performed.  This information will be used as a starting point to collect past performance information for each of the offerors and their major subcontractors.  In addition, the government will send out questionnaires as well as obtain information from the Contractor Performance Assessment Review (CPAR) system and any other means available to obtain performance information.

16. Do you expect MILCON or other facility construction activities to occur under this contract or will that be done under other contracts?


MILCON work is not expected under this contract.

17. Since “transformation” could potentially address all dimensions of the maintenance operation, i.e., people, processes, systems, equipment, facilities and other infrastructure, what is in and out of scope for this contract?


The scope of the contract will be defined in the RFP.

18. Do you expect maintenance equipment (i.e., non-facility) build/refurbishment activities to occur under this contract or will that be done under other contracts?


Yes, equipment refurbishment or replacement will be a requirement within the scope of this contract.

19. Is there a list of equipment to be refurbished, replaced, repaired, etc?  What happens if some of the equipment isn’t used?  What is needed for each Lean cell and what will be needed for other DMB RO cells?  Is the actual acquisition of equipment through the contract or GFE?

 
If and when a list is available, it will be posted in the bidder’s library.  For the contract effort, the contractor will work with the IPT to determine the equipment needed for each cell. Actual acquisition, upon government approval, is within the scope of the contract.

20. Since there are already contractors on-site doing work that relates to one or more dimensions of the possible scope of this contract, how will those efforts be linked to this contract?  Will the general contractor on this contract have project management responsibilities for other contractor work?


The Program Implementation Plan should contain all the necessary information required to meet the program and contract objectives.  The general contractor will be required to enter into Associate Contractor Agreements to allow full integration of all efforts.

21. What do you see the role of the general contractor?


The general contractor is the integrator of its team, which will design, train, refurbish/replace equipment, and any other efforts necessary to complete this effort.

22. Do you anticipate making facilities on base available?


There will be limited on-base space.  At this time the exact amount and location has not been identified.

23. Would we have a team dedicated to work with us during the planning, etc?


The Government will provide a single POC for each of our major production areas (aircraft, engines, commodities), and will make other personnel available to assist you in this effort on an as needed basis.

24. During the transition phase of redesign, is it expected the contractor will assist in the transformation office?


All will be working hand in-hand to transition through continued operations.

25. What are you looking for in the Program Implementation Plan?


Your approach of how you would manage the implementation efforts.

26. What about the partnership aspect?


Government and contractor becomes one team for design and implementation.

27. What other kind of training have you focused on?


We focused heavily on Lean training from a number of different sources.

28. Are there any concepts that stand out in the Six-Sigma/Lean cellular aspects?


All are being explored as a means to help us reach our stated objectives.  

29. What do you see as the biggest risks/challenges?


A change in mindset.

Appendix B: Questionnaire

Re.: Transformation of DMB Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul (MRO) Facilities

Please provide your responses to the following questions.  We intend to use your answers to refine the RFP and specify selection criteria that assure open competition while supplying the best combination of military, government, and commercial practices to our transformation effort.

To ensure that your answers have the opportunity to influence our acquisition, please submit your response no later than ___________.  Answers should be submitted to:______________________________________________

Company Name, Cage Code, Address, and POC name and telephone number:  

________________________________________________

1)  Commerciality

a.  Current acquisition guidance encourages the government to adopt the best practices of industry by purchasing commercial products and/or solutions.  Do you think this acquisition contains requirements that lend themselves to commercial solutions/products?  

b.  If so, how are these products/solutions priced and purchased commercially?  In other words, what government contract type most closely resembles the typical commercial contract used to purchase and satisfies these requirements.  Consider major terms and conditions in your answer, but focus on the pricing methodology.

2)  Metrics

a.  The use of delivery orders is being considered to satisfy our indefinite requirement for multiple, time-phased lean and/or cellular design of our business units.  Please provide industry input on how best to measure contractor performance in this type of environment.  Provide as many inputs as feasible, but specific examples might include:


Quality of studies/analyses/reports


Delivery order management


Team management


Efficiency/Management of Government resources


Cost Control/cost avoidance


Control/Prevention of MRO disruption and backlog


Time/Budget projections (with milestones)

b.  What other types of performance objectives or performance measurements do you feel are appropriate for this type of effort?  Please explain your answer.

3)  Incentives:

a.  Do you feel incentives (award fee, incentive fee, award term, etc.) are appropriate for this type of effort?  If so, which one(s) and why?

b.  Do you feel incentives will add measurable value to the contract?  Please explain your answer and consider the cost of administering the incentive program.

c.  Based on the metrics discussed above, what measurements would you use to incentivize the type of work under this contract?

4)  Streamline Approach to Delivery Order Awards/Management

a.  The government desires a streamlined approach to awarding Delivery Orders.  Please provide industry input and suggestions for streamlining the Delivery Order award and management process.

b.  What is your definition of a streamlined process for Delivery Order award and management?

c.  What is a reasonable amount of time to return a streamlined Delivery Order proposal?

d.  How might a website facilitate this streamlined process?

5)  Teaming Restrictions

a.  If team members are allowed to participate on more than one team, how can the government be assured that competition will be maintained?

b.  Please provide industry input on how the government should address teaming restrictions in the RFP?  Please explain your position.

6)  Cost Control:

a.  The government is concerned with pass-through costs for team members.  How can the government incentivize you to be innovative in your overhead/management structure to eliminate or significantly reduce “pass-through costs” to subcontractors, and search for ways to realize efficiencies, while still providing quality service? 

b.  Should the government require a contract ceiling for pass-through costs or simply let the competition determine these costs?  Please explain your position.

c.  How can the government word its evaluation criteria and the resultant contract to achieve this goal?

d.  Do you have a DCAA approved/audited Forward Pricing Rate Agreement (FPRA) for indirect/overhead rates and/or labor rates?  Please clarify what FPRAs you have or why you do not have an FPRA.  Do all of your team members/subcontractors have FPRAs?  If not, please explain why.

7)  Risks

a.  What do you see as the risk areas associated with this effort and how would you mitigate these risks?

b. Please provide any additional feedback you feel is relevant.
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